UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 92-4232

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS

WAYNE A. Pl ERCE,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Western District of Loui siana

( Cctober 14, 1993 )

Before WSDOM JOLLY and DeM3SS, Circuit Judges.
DeMOSS, Circuit Judge:

A nmenber of the court having requested that the nmandate for
the original panel opinion, dated Decenber 29, 1992, be w thheld,
the court now on its own notion wthdraws such opinion and
substitutes this opinion in |ieu thereof.

In this case we deci de whether the district court's failure to
inform the defendant when he entered his guilty plea that the
maxi mum sentence he could receive would include an additional
mandat ory sentence under 18 U . S.C. § 3147 violated Rule 11 of the
Federal Rules of Crimnal Procedure. W hold that under our recent

en banc decisionin United States v. Johnson, No. 92-8057 (5th Cr.

Aug. 26, 1993), the court's less than perfect conpliance with the



rule is excused under the harm ess error standard of Rule 11(h).
We therefore affirm Pierce's conviction and sentence.
| . BACKGROUND

Appel  ant, Wayne A. Pierce, is a former G and Dragon of the Ku
Klux Klan in Louisiana. On Novenber 19, 1990, the governnent
charged Pierce in a one-count indictnment with fel ony possessi on of
afirearminviolation of 18 U S.C. § 922(g). The sane day, Pierce
was arraigned and rel eased on bond. Before being rel eased, Pierce
signed a witten notice advising himthat he woul d be subject to an
enhanced penalty if he commtted another of fense while on rel ease.
Ajury found Pierce guilty on February 4, 1991, but he remai ned on
bond status until May 7 when the court ordered himto begin serving
hi s sentence.

Wi |l e on rel ease, Pierce and ot her nmenbers of the Kl an pl anned
to burn several crosses on the day Pierce began serving his firearm
possessi on sentence. The evening after Pierce entered prison, his
co-defendants burned crosses at nine different |locations in
Loui si ana. As a result of the cross-burning, the governnent
indicted Pierce and his co-defendants on the foll ow ng charges:

Count 1: Conspiracy to interfere with federal rights in
violation of 18 U. S. C. § 241;

Count 2: Use of fire in the commssion of a felony in
violation of 18 U.S. C. 8844(h);

Count 3: Interference by force or threat of force with fair
housing rights in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3631(a);



Counts 4 and 5: Interference by force or threat of force with
public schooling in violation of 18 U S C 8§
245(b)(2) (A); and

Count 6: Conspiracy to nake a fal se declaration in violation
of 18 U.S.C. § 1623.

On Decenber 4, 1991, Pierce entered into a plea agreenent in
whi ch he agreed to plead guilty to Counts One, Three, Four, Five
and Six. The district court held a Rule 11 hearing and inforned
the defendant that the maxi numtotal period of incarceration the
court could inpose was 18 years. Sentencing was set for February
21, 1992.

On January 31, 1992, the governnent filed an Application for
Sentence Enhancenent for conmmtting offenses while on release
status under U S.S.G § 2J1.7 and 18 U.S.C. § 3147. The effect of
t hese enhancenent provisions was to increase the maximum tota
period of incarceration the court could inpose from18 years to 28
years. See 18 U.S.C. 8 3147(1). Pierce was not nmade aware of this
enhancenent either in the plea agreenent or at the plea hearing.

On February 21, 1992, the district court sentenced Pierce to
60 nont hs of incarceration on counts one and six of the indictnent
and 12 nonths on counts three four and five, all to run
concurrently. Pursuant to 18 U. S.C. § 3147(1), the court sentenced
the defendant to an additional 12 nonths for commtting an of fense
while on release status, giving the defendant a total effective
sentence of 72 nonths.

Pi erce appeals, claimng that his guilty plea was involuntary
because the district court understated the maxi num sentence he
could receive in violation of Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of
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Crim nal Procedure. He argues that, as a result, he should be
all owed to plead anew.
1. DI SCUSSI ON
The relevant portions of Rule 11 reads as foll ows:
(c) Advice to Defendant. Before accepting the a plea of
guilty or nolo contendere, the court nust address the
defendant in open court and inform the defendant of, and
determ ne that the defendant understands, the foll ow ng:
(1) the nature of the charge to which the plea is
of fered, the mandatory m ni num penal ty provided by | aw,
i f any, and t he maxi numpossi bl e penalty provi ded by | aw,
i ncluding the effect of any special parole or supervised
release term the fact that the court is required to
consi der any applicabl e sentenci ng gui deli nes under sone
ci rcunst ances, and when applicable, that the court nay

also order the defendant to nmake restitution to any
victimof the offense;

(h) Harm ess Error. Any variance from the procedures

required by this rul e which does not affect substantial rights

shal | be di sregarded.

Prior to our en banc decision in Johnson, this court enployed
a two step analysis in determning whether a district court's
failure to adnonish a defendant in accordance with Rule 11
warranted an automatic reversal. W first determ ned whether the
failure affected a "core concern"” under Rule 11, and if so, we
classifiedthe district court's failure as either total or partial.
Thus, if the district court totally failed to address a core
concern under Rule 11, the error warranted automatic reversal.

Qur en banc decision in Johnson has "chucked” that two step
i nqui ry and now applies a harm ess error anal ysis across the board.
Johnson, slip op. at 6422. The inquiry now is: (1) did the

sentencing court vary fromthe procedures required by Rule 11, and
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(2) if so, did such variance affect substantial rights of the
defendant? 1d. at 6418. To determ ne whether the error affected
substantial rights, we focus on whether the defendant's know edge
and conprehension of the full and correct information would have
been likely to affect the defendant's willingness to plead guilty.
Id. at 6423.

Applying this inquiry to the facts here, we conclude that the
court varied fromthe procedures required by Rule 11 when it failed
to advise Pierce of the maxi num penalty to which he was subject
after application of the enhancenent provisions. After the
governnent requested enhancenent, the court should have held
anot her hearing and infornmed Pierce of the requested enhancenent
and its effect. Failing to do so was error.!?

Having found the error, the next question is whether it was

harm ess. To nmake this determ nation, we exam ne the facts and
circunstances of the . . . case to see if the district court's
flawed conpliance with . . . Rule 11 . . . may reasonably be vi ewed
as having been a material factor affecting [Pierce]'s decision to
plead gquilty."" 1d. (quoting Fed. R Cim P. 11 (advisory

commttee notes to 1983 anendnent)). W conclude that the court's

failure to inform Pierce of the enhancenent cannot be so vi ewed.

W note that the district court would not have found itself
inthis position were it not for the conduct of the prosecution in
waiting to request an enhancenent until after the court had held
Pierce's Rule 11 heari ng.



These facts present a prototypical case of harm ess error.?
Here, the sentencing court infornmed Pierce during the Rule 11
col l oquy that his maxi numpossi ble prison tine was 18 years. Based

on this understanding of a "worst case scenario,” Pierce nade the
decision to plead guilty. And rather than having this scenario
realized, Pierce was actually sentenced to six years, a sentence
well below the 18 year period of which the court had nade him
aware. Cearly Pierce has not been harned.

Moreover, the fact that his true "worst case scenario" was
actually worse than he was infornmed would not have reasonably
caused Pierce to doubt the wi sdomof his plea. To the contrary,
| ogi c and reason would weigh this factor in favor of his decision
to plead guilty: if Pierce was willing to plead guilty when facing
what he believed was an 18 year nmaxi mum would he not have been
just as wlling if had he known that the maxi nrumwas 28 years?

1. CONCLUSI ON

Thus, we hold that "the nature and extent of the deviation

fromRule 11 was such that it could not have had any inpact on the

2lt is noteworthy that the advisory commttee notes to the
1983 anendnent to Rule 11 adopting section (h) cite United States
v. Peters, No. 77-1700 (4th Gr., Dec. 22, 1978), as being
"illustrative" of cases to which harmess error applies. I n
Peters, the defendant was advi sed that he m ght receive a sentence
of fifteen years plus a special parole term of at |east three
years; the defendant was not advi sed of the maxi numnunber of years
of the mandatory special parole term At sentencing, the defendant
recei ved a sentence of fifteen years plus a special parole term of
three years. The defendant appeal ed, arguing that the court had
violated Rule 11 by failing to advise himof the maxi mum nunber of
years that m ght be inposed as a special parole term The Fourth
Circuit affirnmed the sentence, concluding that any error was
har m ess because his actual sentence did not exceed that indicated
inthe district court's warnings.
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defendant's decision to plead or the fairness in now holding himto
his plea." Fed. R Cim P. 11 (advisory commttee notes to 1983
anendnent). Having so held, Pierce's conviction and sentence are

AFFI RVED.

E. GRADY JOLLY, G rcuit Judge dissenting:

| respectfully dissent because the majority's overgeneralized
analysis fails conpletely to focus on what Suprene Court precedent
clearly dictates is the central issue involved in this case: the

voluntary nature of Pierce's guilty plea. See Brady v. United

States, 397 U. S. 742, 748, 90 S.Ct. 1463, 1469, 25 L.Ed.2d 747
(1970). The mpjority opinion holds the district court's Rule 11
error to be "harnl ess" because: (1) Pierce ultimately received | ess
than the 18-year maxi numsentence that the district court inforned
him of at the Rule 11 hearing; and (2) the 20-year increase in
Pierce's potential maxi num sentence caused by the post-hoc 18
U S.C. 8§ 3147 enhancenent would not constitute a material factor
affecting his decision to plead guilty. Wth all due respect, the
majority's analysis could not be nore flawed when it effectively
says that a defendant can enter, as a matter of law, a voluntary,
knowi ng, and intelligent plea of guilty when the actual peril faced
by the defendant was nore than twi ce as great as he was told by the

district court at the tine he entered his plea. The effect of the

c: br:opin: 92-4232p. 3cf 7



majority's holding is that when a defendant is sentenced to a term
| ess than the maxi num sentence of which he is advised, the failure

to informthe defendant of the actual maxi num sentence he faces is

al ways harm ess error. | do not believe that is the |law, nor do |
bel i eve that is what Johnson holds.® Accordingly, | would renmand

so that Pierce could receive another Rule 11 hearing in which the

SUnited States v. Johnson, 1 F.3d 296, 302 (5th Cir. 1993),
provi des that our harm ess error analysis nmust focus on:

[ Whet her [the defendant's] know edge and conprehensi on

of the full and correct information would have been
likely to affect the defendant's willingness to plead
guilty.
Thi s | anguage correctly requires focus on the voluntary nature of
the defendant's decision at the tinme he enters his plea, i.e., on

the information the defendant possessed when he pled guilty.
Curiously, Johnson, at 298, further provides, that in determning
the voluntariness of a plea we may consi der the "sentence actual ly
i nposed” on the defendant although the sentence is always i nposed
sonetine after the entry of the plea. Only in the rare instance in
whi ch the defendant knows of the actual sentence to be inposed
prior to making his plea will the actual sentence informthe court
about the defendant's know edge when he entered the plea. Johnson
then states that we should consider the ultimte sentence to
determne the validity of the plea when it is:

[Tlenporally relevant to the voluntary and uncoerced
nature of the defendant's guilty plea, and to his
know edge and under st andi ng of the nature of the charges
agai nst him and the consequences of his plea.

Id. (enphasis added).

Wth all due respect, | find this observation, especially the words
"tenporally relevant" sonmewhat confusing, unless the words refer
only to the tine period before the defendant enters his plea. The
actual sentence inposed, perhaps, could be relevant, but not
tenporally so, to the reasonabl eness of a projected guidelines
range that the district court infornmed the defendant of at the Rule

11 hearing. Here, however, the district court did not inform
Pierce of any projected guidelines range and thus, the actua
sentence inposed cannot be relevant in any sense to the

vol untariness of Pierce's plea entered sone nonths prior to the
district court's inposition of the actual sentence.



district court would inform him of the actual statutory maxi nmum
sentence of 38 years. This would enable pierce to enter a
voluntary plea within the plain neaning of Rule 11 and the

unanbi guous mandate of Suprene Court precedent.



